BRACHYCEPHALIC BREEDS AND BRACHYCEPHALIC OBSTRUCTIVE AIRWAY SYNDROME (BOAS)

Report, Strategy and Recommendations FCI Scientific Commission 15.07.2020



Members of the Commission:

Kirsi Sainio, PhD, Docent, President Gregoire Leroy, PhD Niksa Lemo, DVM, Professor Margarita Duran, DVM Andrés Villalobos, DVM, Professor Veronika Kucerova, DVM

Contents

INTRODUCTION	3
I. WHAT IS BOAS?	4
Prevalence and incidence across breeds	5
II. BREEDING APPROACH TO TACKLE THE BOAS ISSUE	6
Traits to be considered	6
Selection interventions	6
III. RECOMMENDED ACTIONS	8
Breeding should improve the quality of dogs	8
Strategies in BOAS applying to all brachycephalic breeds	9
General breeding recommendations regarding BOAS (National Canine Organizations):	10
Breed specific recommendations regarding BOAS (Breed Clubs)	10
References and literature	12
Statements	17
Tools in use	17

INTRODUCTION

Brachycephaly, or short skull, is one of the ancient features in domestic dogs. Brachycephalic breeds have existed for centuries, and today, some of these breeds are among the most popular and loved dog breeds globally. Any actions taken in brachycephalic dogs should be set to this wider perspective in order to achieve permanent and meaningful results to improve the health and welfare of these breeds.

Population-based epidemiological data (for example breed surveys as well as insurance claim data) has shown that a significant proportion of individuals in some of the brachycephalic breeds are affected by Brachycephalic Obstructive Airway Syndrome or BOAS (Nordic Kennel Union: Statements and proposals regarding respiratory health in brachycephalic dogs. 2017). The shortened forehead occurring in these breeds is a result of discrete mutations - however, the different factors causing BOAS are complex. Any efforts in trying to solve BOAS based problems call for collaboration between several stakeholders. In fact, focusing only on one of these various factors may lead to more serious and increasing problems and welfare issues in brachycephalic breeds. All involved, including national and global kennel organizations, breed clubs, breeders, show judges, veterinarians, welfare authorities and even the owners of brachycephalic dogs, must collaborate in order to successfully achieve meaningful results on the prevalence of BOAS related problems.

In this report, we, the Scientific Commission of the Fédération Cynologique Internationale (FCI), examine BOAS from a scientific and cynological point of view. However, in order to give a meaningful input to the current debate around this complex issue of brachycephalic dogs, we will also show that there is a need not only for common actions, but that each affected breed also needs to have an individual breeding strategy.

I. WHAT IS BOAS?

Brachycephalic Obstructive Airway Syndrome (BOAS) or Brachycephalic Syndrome (BS) is a conformation-related respiratory disorder in dogs belonging to the group of brachycephalic breeds. Misconfiguration of respiratory soft tissue restricts airflow and increases negative pressure within the airway. Airway resistance caused by these tissue anomalies is believed to induce pathological remodelling of additional tissues, including tonsil and laryngeal saccule eversion, oedema of the nasopharynx, laryngeal collapse, tracheal hypoplasia or collapse, and exacerbation of the thickening and elongation of the soft palate. Affected individuals can have stenotic nares, elongated soft palates and oversized, caudally protruding nasal turbinate; consequently, they develop breathing difficulties, heat and exercise intolerance, and in more severe cases, cyanosis and collapse.

An earlier study (Packer et al. 2015) compared multiple breeds with relatively small numbers of dogs, and suggested that the shorter the muzzle, the greater the BOAS problem. A More recent study (Liu et al., 2017) suggests that for specific breeds, there may not be a direct, comparable link between CFR (CFR = length of muzzle: length of skull) and BOAS. Anatomically, the CFR measurement cannot determine the main internal BOAS lesions along the upper airway. For extreme brachycephalic dogs, the snout length only includes the region of the nasal planum and nasal vestibule, while other common BOAS lesions, such as overcrowded and aberrant nasal turbinates, elongated soft palate, and macroglossia, are found in areas that are measured by the cranial length (Liu et al. 2017). Recently, Ravn-Mølby et al. (2019) found no significant effect of muzzle length as a conformational feature in the development of BOAS in French Bulldogs. The same study revealed that the nostril stenosis score has a large impact on the functional ability of the dog. Additional findings from the study also corroborate several other studies that indicate neck girth and body condition as further risk factors for BOAS.

The clinical presentation of BOAS is heterogeneous, suggesting determinants independent of skull conformation also contribute to airway disease in brachycephalic breeds. However, Norwich Terriers, as a mesocephalic breed, are predisposed to Upper Airway Syndrome (UAS), a disease whose pathological features overlap with BOAS. Recent research on Norwich Terriers revealed that airway oedema caused by the disruption of the *ADAMTS3* gene predisposes dogs to respiratory obstruction (Marchant et al, 2019). These results suggest a new paradigm in the understanding of canine upper airway disease etiology.

Prevalence and incidence across breeds

The prevalence and incidence of BOAS in various brachycephalic breeds is difficult to assess. There are several reasons for this: sparse literature data, a lack of diagnostic criteria, a lack of data being shared between primary practice and referral centres, a lack of systematic data collected from the registered dogs, an unknown number of unregistered dogs resulting from uncontrolled breeding without any health recommendations, and a number of imported dogs with unfamiliar breeding lines. Although many brachycephalic breeds have health schemes, which the breed clubs for these breeds across Europe are promoting, only a proportion of the pet population is registered in FCI's national organization members or in The Kennel Club (the official kennel club in United Kingdom). Different scientific studies suggest a variable prevalence for BOAS in brachycephalic dogs from less than 10 % up to 50 %. These data have to be taken with caution due to the relatively small population observed and a lack of statistical data in most studies.

Moreover, the prevalence of BOAS affected dogs showed an overrepresented number of French Bulldogs, Pugs, and English Bulldogs. These breeds are also the most popular brachycephalic breeds, and breeds that have been studied the most

II. BREEDING APPROACH TO TACKLE THE BOAS ISSUE

Traits to be considered

Defining trait(s) to be selected is one of the main prerequisites for the implementation of a breeding strategy. In the case of a complex issue caused by multiple traits like BOAS, selection can be made either on the diagnosis of the disease itself, or on trait(s) phenotypically or genetically correlated, i.e. on morphology or an exercise assessment test in the case of BOAS.

- Diagnosis of BOAS should be considered in any breeding strategy against the disease. Yet, given
 the progressive nature of the disease, the most direct interventions, such as the removal of a
 dog from breeding, can only occur at a late stage, i.e. potentially after a dog has already been
 used for breeding.
- As dog morphology is clearly affecting the likelihood of developing BOAS, it should be considered in breeding strategies. Yet, it has to be underlined that (i) there is still no consensus on a specific quantitative trait that could be used as a predictor for the risk of developing BOAS and that (ii) traits associations may differ according to breeds. Potentially, a combination of traits could be selected as a synthetic index to be used as predictors in selection, yet the definition of the combination, as well as the logistic difficulty in implementing a generalized morphometric characterization constitute important obstacles for such implementation. Alternatively, qualitative assessment should be considered at every stage of the breeding process to encourage the use of dogs with a healthy morphology relative to BOAS.
- Exercise tests may be considered as another option in predicting the risk of BOAS among dog breeds. These tests have the advantage of already being used by some clubs and countries, and they are generally accepted by breeders and owners. It has to be underlined that it is unclear to which extent these tests are good predictors of BOAS.

Selection interventions

In order to be efficient, breeding strategies against BOAS should be multi-fold, i.e. take advantage of the different elements that are being considered by breeders for the selection of their reproducers. The below list presents a non-exhaustive list of potential interventions that can be included within a breeding strategy against BOAS.

As the conformation of the breed to an official standard is fundamental to dog breeding, it is essential that the standard provides a description of morphological types that are as healthy and functional as possible. Over the last years, some changes have been made in that direction by the country of origin of the most emblematic brachycephalic breeds. Yet it is difficult to determine whether those changes had any impact on the BOAS issue within the breeds, either because these changes were too limited to have any impact, or because the changes were not fully implemented by judges, breed clubs and breeders.

Breeding organizations should seek to promote dogs showing no predisposition to BOAS, while discouraging the breeding of affected dogs to the greatest possible extent. Corresponding interventions should include:

- enforce/encourage the phenotypic evaluation of a large number of dogs, on traits directly or indirectly related to BOAS (see above),
- communicate the results widely (within pedigrees, specialized media, breed clubs, websites of national kennel organizations and databases),
- recommend the use of healthy dogs only, with healthy ancestry and offspring, as well as ban the breeding of affected dogs.

Selection interventions should be a part of clear strategies designed by kennel organizations and breed clubs and they should include concrete objectives and consider the specific framework of the breed at a national level (BOAS incidence, demographic situation, legal framework).

III. RECOMMENDED ACTIONS

Breeding should improve the quality of dogs

The breeding of dogs has a long history. The basic idea of breeding in any population of dogs has always been to *improve the overall quality* of the stock. Quality does not mean only the conformation and breed specific features, but also the various properties a given breed has. These properties have remained unchanged in many breeds throughout their history because of systematic and purposeful breeding programs that

breed clubs and breeders have followed. Humans and our societies have also greatly benefited from these features and properties of purebred pedigree dogs.

Many of the brachycephalic breeds have been companion animals throughout their history. Being a pet and a family dog is one of the most important purposes of dogs in modern society, and thus, many brachycephalic breeds with their loveable disposition have achieved a position among the most popular dog breeds worldwide.

This has also led to some side effects, and these breeds or their look-a-likes are widely bred and marketed outside the organized dog community. However, specific breeding programs and strategies, including those concerning dog health and welfare, only affect organized breeders. Therefore, any actions taken to restrict or prevent organized dog breeding may lead to an increase of breeding and numbers of dogs that are not registered nor controlled by anyone.

The animal welfare legislation concerns all animals, regardless of where or by whom they have been bred, whether they are registered or unregistered animals. Unfortunately, those actions that are only affecting organized breeders and kennel organizations may lead to even more serious problems. The situation in Netherlands, where the authorities have applied a CFR measurement of 0.3 to all brachycephalic breeds registered by the Dutch Kennel Club (Raad van Beheer), is only affecting the organized dog community and breeders. Even CFR has recently been found to not be a major risk predictor for BOAS. Thus far, we are not aware of any actions that have been taken for dogs that are bred unregistered or in other organizations outside RvB, which is a member of the international umbrella organization, the FCI.

Dog health and welfare have always been in the centre of any actions taken by the FCI and its members. Most European countries except for the United Kingdom are either full or associate, or contract partners of the FCI. Within UK, the FCI has a mutual contract with their main organization, The Kennel Club. Any actions taken by the FCI have a fundamental effect on health and welfare issues in registered pedigree dogs throughout Europe. With nearly 100 members worldwide, actions taken by the FCI can even have a global effect.

As the expert commission in breeding, dog welfare and health within the FCI, the Scientific Commission proposes the following actions to be taken regarding the brachycephalic breeds and BOAS.

Strategies in BOAS applying to all brachycephalic breeds

1. Implement methods to examine breeding animals for respiratory function and temperature monitoring.

There is a recent agreement between the Kennel Club and the FCI to facilitate the Cambridge method (Liu et al., 2017) to assess the risk for BOAS. Dogs free from any clinical signs of BOAS and with anatomical features compatible with a decreased risk for BOAS create a potential breeding stock in a given breed provided that their overall health and anatomy are also acceptable. Applying the Cambridge method or any similar assessments to monitor BOAS requires collaboration with veterinarians.

2. Promote central national registration of dogs diagnosed and operated for BOAS.

Dogs that have been operated for BOAS cannot be bred from. To create such a registry calls for cooperation between national kennel organizations, breeders, dog owners and veterinarians.

3. Work internationally towards written breed standards with non-exaggerated wording that consider the importance of health.

The breed standards should be critically assessed from a health and welfare point of view, and interpretations and commentaries of the breed standards should be provided as part of the judges' and breeders' education. This calls for cooperation between the countries of origin of the breeds, the breed clubs and the FCI.

4. Develop ways and means to set up breeding programs and breeding control for the unregistered populations of brachycephalic dogs. This action has to be taken by authorities.

It is essential that unregistered dogs are also monitored for BOAS as they form a substantial and increasing population of brachycephalic dogs. Their breeding is not under the control of national kennel organizations, breed clubs, nor the FCI. Therefore, this remains for the authorities to control and conduct.

Increase education of show judges, breeders and dog owners. Produce a guideline for clubs to organize and execute lectures/seminars.

Judges should be provided with special training to assess respiratory distress and the anatomical risk factors (exaggerations) associated with BOAS at dog shows. The education should be organized by the national kennel organizations with the help of veterinarians. However, it is important to understand that the judges are not making diagnoses at dog shows.

Breeders should get more education in the selection of breeding stock regarding BOAS. This education should be organized nationally and in cooperation with breed clubs and the help of veterinarians.

Dog owners should get more education to be able to assess BOAS related symptoms in their dogs. This education is the responsibility of the breeders and the breed clubs with the help of veterinarians.

6. Construct national and international BOAS health surveys to assess the progress in brachycephalic dogs.

These surveys should be online and conducted by the breed clubs and facilitated by the national kennel organizations with the help of veterinarians. Evaluation of the progress should be done after each new generation of dogs (every 5 years). The reports have to be sent to the national kennel organization (member of FCI) and to the FCI.

Promoting the collaboration and common actions between and with different stakeholders, including the national canine organizations, veterinarians and authorities, is essential.

We only increase welfare problems if mutual understanding of actions is not achieved. Promoting collaboration is the responsibility of us all.

General breeding recommendations regarding BOAS (National Canine Organizations):

- 1. Dogs clinically affected by BOAS, as well as dogs operated for BOAS, should never be used for breeding.
- 2. Easily available and comparable health monitoring (such as the Cambridge method) should be included as a tool for the selection of all breeding stock.
- 3. Easily available and comparable health monitoring should also include the offspring.
- **4. Select breeding stock with less exaggerated anatomical features** (for example: stenotic nostrils, heavy skin folds over the nose, short and thick neck, obesity).

Breed specific recommendations regarding BOAS (Breed Clubs)

The Dutch authorities have included in their list of brachycephalic breeds the following 12 breeds:

Affenpinscher, Boston Terrier, English Bulldog, French Bulldog, Griffons (Belge, Bruxellois, Petit Brabançon), Japanese Chin, King Charles Spaniel, Pekingese, Pug and Shih Tzu. The CFR in all these breeds should be 0.3.

However, all these breeds are separate populations, and regarding their conformation, breed history and effective populations, they are very different from each other. <u>Therefore, it is not reasonable to apply the same CFR nor breeding strategies to all brachycephalic breeds.</u>

Especially Affenpinscher, Griffons, Japanese Chin, King Charles Spaniels, Pekingese and Shih tzu have smaller populations and breeding stocks in many countries. Therefore, concentrating on CFR would only lead to breeding programs with a severe increase in closely related dogs (inbreeding) which would jeopardize overall healthy breeding. The breed standards and conformation in these breeds are also very different from each other. A better strategy would be to assess all these breeds separately.

In Boston Terriers, English Bulldogs, French Bulldogs and Pugs, more restricted breeding strategies could be applied as the size of the populations is larger and a lot of breeding stock is available in many countries. However, standards in these breeds also have substantial differences, and other health issues should also be taken into consideration as well as the population size and genetic diversity within each local population. This calls for breed specific breeding strategies.

The breed specific strategies should be applied in collaboration by the breed clubs and national kennel organizations in each country. The national populations and populations in neighbouring countries should be taken in consideration.

References and literature

Arulpagasam S, Lux C, Odunayo A, Biskup J, Sun X. Evaluation of Pulse Oximetry in Healthy Brachycephalic Dogs. J Am Anim Hosp Assoc. (2018) 54(6):344-350. doi: 10.5326/JAAHA-MS-6654. Epub 2018 Oct 1. PMID: 30272480.

Asher L, Diesel G, Summers JF, McGreevy PD, Collins LM. (2009). Inherited defects in pedigree dogs. Part 1: disorders related to breed standards. Vet J. 82(3):402–11

Auger M, Alexander K, Beauchamp G, Dunn M. Use of CT to evaluate and compare intranasal features in brachycephalic and normocephalic dogs.(2016). J Small Anim Pract. 57(10):529-536. doi: 10.1111/jsap.12541. Epub 2016 Aug 10. PMID: 27508338.

Bannasch D, Young A, Myers J, Truvé K, Dickinson P, Gregg J, Pedersen, N. (2010). Localization of canine brachycephaly using an across breed mapping approach. PloS one, 5(3).https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2835769/pdf/pone.0009632.pdf

Bartels A, Martin V, Bidoli E, Steigmeier-Raith S, Brühschwein A, Reese S, et al. (2015). Brachycephalic problems of pugs relevant to animal welfare. Anim Welf. 24(3):327–33.

Beausoleil NJ, Mellor DJ. (2015). Introducing breathlessness as a significant animal welfare issue. N Z Vet J. 63(1):44–51.

Bernaerts F, Talavera J, Leemans J, Hamaide A, Claeys S, Kirschvink N, Clercx C. (2010). Description of original endoscopic findings and respiratory functional assessment using barometric whole-body plethysmography in dogs suffering from brachycephalic airway obstruction syndrome. Vet J. 183(1):95-102. doi: 10.1016/j.tvjl.2008.09.009. Epub 2008 Oct 25. PMID: 18952471.

Crane C, Rozanski EA, Abelson AL, deLaforcade A. (2017). Severe brachycephalic obstructive airway syndrome is associated with hypercoagulability in dogs. J Vet Diagn Invest 29(4):570-573. doi: 10.1177/1040638717703434. Epub 2017 Apr 5. PMID: 28381131.

Davis, M. S., Cummings, S. L., & Payton, M. E. (2017). Effect of brachycephaly and body condition score on respiratory thermoregulation of healthy dogs. Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association, 251(10), 1160-1165.

Downing F, Gibson S. Anaesthesia of brachycephalic dogs. (2018). J Small Anim Pract. 59(12):725-733. doi: 10.1111/jsap.12948. Epub 2018 Oct 29. PMID: 30374971.

Dupré G, Heidenreich D. Brachycephalic Syndrome. (2016). Vet Clin North Am Small Anim Pract. 46(4):691-707. doi: 10.1016/j.cvsm.2016.02.002. Epub 2016 Mar 21. PMID: 27012936.

Ekenstedt KJ, Crosse KR, Risselada M. (2020). Canine Brachycephaly: Anatomy, Pathology, Genetics and Welfare. J Comp Pathol. 176:109-115. doi: 10.1016/j.jcpa.2020.02.008. Epub 2020 Mar 17. PMID: 32359622.

Fasanella FJ, Shivley JM, Wardlaw JL, Givaruangsawat S. (2010). Brachycephalic airway obstructive syndrome in dogs: 90 cases (1991-2008). J Am Vet Med Assoc 237(9):1048-51. doi: 10.2460/javma.237.9.1048. PMID: 21034343.

Fawcett A, Barrs V, Awad M, Child G, Brunel L, Mooney E, Martinez-Taboada F, McDonald B, McGreevy P. (2018). Consequences and Management of Canine Brachycephaly in Veterinary Practice: Perspectives from Australian Veterinarians and Veterinary Specialists. Animals (Basel). 21;9(1):3. doi: 10.3390/ani9010003. PMID: 30577619; PMCID: PMC6356869.

Gianella P, Caccamo R, Bellino C, Bottero E, Fietta F, Roncone S, Ostanello F, Pietra M, Buracco P. Evaluation of metabolic profile and C-reactive protein concentrations in brachycephalic dogs with upper airway obstructive syndrome.(2019). J Vet Intern Med. 33(5):2183-2192. doi: 10.1111/jvim.15575. Epub 2019 Aug 27. PMID: 31454107; PMCID: PMC6766536.

Haimel G, Dupré G. (2015). Brachycephalic airway syndrome: a comparative study between pugs and French bulldogs. J Small Anim Pract. 56(12):714-9. doi: 10.1111/jsap.12408. Epub 2015 Nov 13. PMID: 26563910.

Hendricks JC. Brachycephalic airway syndrome.(1992). Vet Clin North Am Small Anim Pract. 22(5):1145-53. doi: 10.1016/s0195-5616(92)50306-0. PMID: 1523786.

Kaye BM, Rutherford L, Perridge DJ, Ter Haar G.(2018). Relationship between brachycephalic airway syndrome and gastrointestinal signs in three breeds of dog. J Small Anim Pract. 59(11):670-673. doi: 10.1111/jsap.12914. Epub 2018 Aug 9. PMID: 30094894.

Koch DA, Rosaspina M, Wiestner T, Arnold S, Montavon PM.(2014). Comparative investigations on the upper respiratory tract in Norwich terriers, brachycephalic and mesaticephalic dogs. Schweiz Arch Tierheilkd. 156(3):119-24. doi: 10.1024/0036-7281/a000561. PMID: 24568805.

Ladlow J, Liu NC, Kalmar L, Sargan D. (2018). Brachycephalic obstructive airway syndrome. Vet Rec. 182(13):375-378. doi: 10.1136/vr.k1403. PMID: 29599258.

Lilja-Maula L, Lappalainen AK, Hyytiäinen HK, Kuusela E, Kaimio M, Schildt K, et al.(2017). Comparison of submaximal exercise test results and severity of brachycephalic obstructive airway syndrome in English bulldogs. Vet J. 219:22–6.

Lindsay B, Cook D, Wetzel JM, Siess S, Moses P.(2020). Brachycephalic airway syndrome: management of post-operative respiratory complications in 248 dogs. Aust Vet J. 98(5):173-180. doi: 10.1111/avj.12926. Epub 2020 Feb 9. PMID: 32037517.

Liu NC, Adams VJ, Kalmar L, Ladlow JF, Sargan DR.(2016). Whole-Body Barometric Plethysmography Characterizes Upper Airway Obstruction in 3 Brachycephalic Breeds of Dogs. J Vet Intern Med. 30(3):853-65. doi: 10.1111/jvim.13933. Epub 2016 May 9. PMID: 27159898; PMCID: PMC4913582. Liu NC, Oechtering GU, Adams VJ, Kalmar L, Sargan DR, Ladlow JF. (2017). Outcomes and prognostic factors of surgical treatments for brachycephalic obstructive airway syndrome in 3 breeds. Vet Surg. 46(2):271-280. doi: 10.1111/vsu.12608. PMID: 28146288.

Liu NC, Sargan DR, Adams VJ, Ladlow JF.(2015). Characterisation of Brachycephalic Obstructive Airway Syndrome in French Bulldogs Using Whole-Body Barometric Plethysmography. PLoS One. 10(6):e0130741. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0130741. PMID: 26079684; PMCID: PMC4469695.

Liu, N. C., Troconis, E. L., Kalmar, L., Price, D. J., Wright, H. E., Adams, V. J., ... & Ladlow, J. F. (2017). Conformational risk factors of brachycephalic obstructive airway syndrome (BOAS) in pugs, French bulldogs, and bulldogs. PloS one, 12(8) https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5538678/

Lodato DL, Hedlund CS. (2012). Brachycephalic airway syndrome: pathophysiology and diagnosis. Compend Contin Educ Vet. 34(7):E3. PMID: 22847322.

Marchant TW, Dietschi E, Rytz U, Schawalder P, Jagannathan V, Hadji Rasouliha S, Gurtner C, Waldvogel AS, Harrington RS, Drögemüller M, Kidd J, Ostrander EA, Warr A, Watson M, Argyle D, Ter Haar G, Clements DN, Leeb T, Schoenebeck JJ. (2019). An ADAMTS3 missense variant is associated with Norwich Terrier upper airway syndrome. PLoS Genet. 15(5):e1008102. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1008102. PMID: 31095560; PMCID: PMC6521993.

Nordic Kennel Union: Statements and proposals regarding respiratory health in brachycephalic dogs: Prepared by a working group appointed by the Nordic Kennel Union [https://www.skk.se/globalassets/nku-en/documents/brachyreport.pdf] (2017).

Oechtering GU, Pohl S, Schlueter C, Lippert JP, Alef M, Kiefer I, Ludewig E, Schuenemann R. A (2016). Novel Approach to Brachycephalic Syndrome. 1. Evaluation of Anatomical Intranasal Airway Obstruction. Vet Surg. 45(2):165-72. doi: 10.1111/vsu.12446. Epub 2016 Jan 21. PMID: 26790550.

O'Neill DG, Jackson C, Guy JH, Church DB, McGreevy PD, Thomson PC, et al. (2015). Epidemiological associations between brachycephaly and upper respiratory tract disorders in dogs attending veterinary practices in England. Canine Genet Epidemiol. 2(1):10.

O'Neill DG, Keijser SFA, Hedhammar A, Kisko C, Leroy G, Llewellyn-Zaidi A, et al. (2017). Moving from information and collaboration to action: report from the 3rd International Dog Health Workshop, Paris in April 2017. Canine Genet Epidemiol. 4:16.

O'Neill DG, O'Sullivan AM, Manson EA, Church DB, Boag AK, McGreevy PD, et al. (2017). Canine dystocia in 50 UK first-opinion emergency-care veterinary practices: prevalenceand risk factors. Vet Rec 181:88.

Packer RM, Hendricks A, Burn CC. (2012). Do dog owners perceive the clinical signs related to conformational inherited disorders as 'normal' for the breed? A potential constraint to improving canine welfare. Anim Welf 21(1):81–93.

Packer RM, Hendricks A, Tivers MS, Burn CC. (2015a). Impact of Facial Conformation on Canine Health: Brachycephalic Obstructive Airway Syndrome. PLoS One. 28;10(10):e0137496. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0137496. PMID: 26509577; PMCID: PMC4624979.

Packer RM, Hendricks A, Burn CC. (2015 b.). Impact of facial conformation on canine health: corneal ulceration. PLoS One 10(5):e0123827

Packer RM, Tivers MS. (2015). Strategies for the management and prevention of conformation-related respiratory disorders in brachycephalic dogs. Vet Med (Auckl). 6:219-232. doi: 10.2147/VMRR.S60475. PMID: 30101109; PMCID: PMC6067768.

Packer RM, Murphy D, Farnworth MJ. (2017). Purchasing popular purebreds: investigating the influence of breed-type on the pre-purchase motivations and behaviour of dog owners. Anim Welf. 26(2):191–201.

Packer RM, O'Neill DG, Fletcher F, Farnworth MJ. (2019). Great expectations, inconvenient truths, and the paradoxes of the dog-owner relationship for owners of brachycephalic dogs. PLoS One. 14(7):e0219918. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0219918. PMID: 31323057; PMCID: PMC6641206.

Palierne. (2016). The French Trachea Study Report. https://dogwellnet.com/applications/core/interface/file/attachment.php?id=1229

Pederse NC, Pooch AS, Liu H. (2016). A genetic assessment of the English bulldog. Canine genetics and epidemiology, 3(1), 6.

https://cgejournal.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s40575-016-0036-y

Pegram CL, Bonnett BN, Skarp,H, Arnott G, James H, Hedhammar Å, ... O'Neill DG. (2020). Moving from information and collaboration to action: report from the 4th international dog health workshop, Windsor in May 2019. Canine Medicine and Genetics.

Pratschke K. (2014). Current thinking about brachycephalic syndrome: more than just airways. *Companion Animal*, 19(2): 70-78.

Ravn-Mølby EM, Sindahl L, Nielsen SS, Bruun CS, Sandøe P, Fredholm M. (2019). Breeding French bulldogs so that they breathe well-A long way to go. PLoS One.14(12):e0226280. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0226280. PMID: 31841527; PMCID: PMC6913956.

Riggs J, Liu NC, Sutton DR, Sargan D, Ladlow JF. (2019). Validation of exercise testing and laryngeal auscultation for grading brachycephalic obstructive airway syndrome in pugs, French bulldogs, and

English bulldogs by using whole-body barometric plethysmography. Vet Surg. 48(4):488-496. doi: 10.1111/vsu.13159. Epub 2019 Jan 21. PMID: 30666670.

Roedler FS, Pohl S, Oechtering GU (2013). How does severe brachycephaly affect dog's lives? Results of a structured preoperative owner questionnaire. Vet J. 198(3): 606-610.

Ryan R, Gutierrez-Quintana R, ter Haar G, De Decker S.(2017). Prevalence of thoracic vertebral malformations in French bulldogs, pugs and English bulldogs with and without associated neurological deficits. Vet J. 221: 25-29.

Tarricone J, Hayes GM, Singh A, Davis G. (2019). Development and validation of a brachycephalic risk (BRisk) score to predict the risk of complications in dogs presenting for surgical treatment of brachycephalic obstructive airway syndrome. Vet Surg. 48(7):1253-1261. doi: 10.1111/vsu.13291. Epub 2019 Jul 27. PMID: 31350865.

Trappler M, Moore K. (2011). Canine brachycephalic airway syndrome: pathophysiology, diagnosis, and nonsurgical management. Compend Contin Educ Vet. 33(5):E1-4; quiz E5. PMID: 21870353.

Wykes PM. (1991). Brachycephalic airway obstructive syndrome. Probl Vet Med. 3(2):188-97. PMID: 1802247.

Statements

BVA. Policy position on extreme conformation 2018. Available from: https://www.bva.co.uk/media/3121/bva-policy-position-on-extreme-conformation-executive-summary-september-2018.pdf

FECAVA. Breeding For Extreme Conformations: What Is The Problem? 2018. Available from: https://www.fecava.org/policies-actions/healthy-breeding-3/

IPFD: The Brachycephalic Issue [https://dogwellnet.com/content/hottopics/brachycephalics/thbrachycephalic-issue-r308/].

Nordic Kennel Union: Statements and proposals regarding respiratory health in brachycephalic dogs: Prepared by a working group appointed by the Nordic Kennel Union [https://www.skk.se/globalassets/nku-en/documents/brachyreport.pdf].

The Kennel Club: Kennel Club responds to vet petition on brachycephalic pets [http://www.thekennelclub.org.uk/news/2016/august/kennel-club-responds-to-vet-petition-on-brachycephalic-pets/].

Tools in use

CBF. 2019. Actions du CBF en faveur de la santé du bouledogue français. Club du Bouledogue Français.

The Kennel Club: Breed Watch: A guide for the health and welfare of show dogs [https://www.thekennelclub.org.uk/media/341575/breed_watch_booklet.pdf].

Nordic Kennel Union: Breed Specific Instructions (BSI) regarding exaggerations in pedigree dogs [https://www.skk.se/globalassets/dokument/utstallning/special-breed-specificinstructions-a8.pdf].

Kennelliitto. 2017. Results from BAER tests and walk tests are saved to the Breeding Database. https://www.kennelliitto.fi/en/about-us/news/results-baer-tests-and-walk-tests-are-saved-breeding-database

SCC.2020. BREATH (BRachycephalic Exercise Aptitude Test for Health)

https://dogwellnet.com/applications/core/interface/file/attachment.php?id=4657